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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

WESTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

 

BUFFALO DIVISION 

 

------------------------------------------------------ x  

 

Danielle Ward, on behalf of herself and all 

others similarly situated, 

 

            Plaintiff, 

 

v. 

 

Bespolitan Inc. and Elegant Comfort Inc., 

 

Defendants. 

 

: 

: 

: 

: 

: 

: 

: 

: 

: 

: 

: 

: 

 

 

CASE NO. 1:23-cv-00069 

 

 

 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

------------------------------------------------------ x  

 

Plaintiff Danielle Ward (“Plaintiff”), on behalf of herself and all others similarly 

situated, by and through her attorneys, brings this Class Action Complaint against Bespolitan 

Inc. and Elegant Comfort Inc. (“Defendants”), based upon personal knowledge as to 

themselves, and upon information, investigation and belief of her counsel. 

INTRODUCTION 

1. This class action seeks to challenge Defendants’ false and deceptive practices 

in the marketing, advertising and sale of its Elegant Comfort “1500 Thread Count” Bed Sheet 

and Pillow Sets on e-commerce websites (the “Product(s)”1).  

2. Specifically, Defendants have marketed the Products as having a “1500 Thread 

Count” when that is egregiously false and deceptive. 

 
1 The “Products” are further defined in Paragraph 13.  
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3. Indeed, ASTM-compliant thread count testing has revealed that the Products 

have a thread count of approximately 180. 

4. As such, the marketing, advertising and sale of the Products is false and 

misleading.  

5. Plaintiff and other consumers purchased the Products and paid a premium price 

based upon their reliance on Defendants’ advertising the Products as having a “1500 Thread 

Count.”  Had Plaintiff and other consumers been aware that the Products have a much lower 

thread count, they would not have purchased the Products or would have paid significantly less 

for them. Accordingly, Plaintiff and Class members have been injured by Defendants’ 

deceptive business practices. 

           JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

6. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to the Class Action Fairness 

Act of 2005, 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2), because this is a class action filed under Rule 23 of the 

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, there are thousands of proposed Class members, the 

aggregate amount in controversy exceeds $5,000,000 exclusive of interest and costs, and 

Defendants are citizens of a state different from at least some members of the proposed Classes, 

including Plaintiff.  

7. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because Defendants have 

sufficient minimum contacts in New York, or otherwise intentionally avail themselves of the 

markets within New York, through their sale of the Products and other products in New York 

to New York consumers.  

8. Venue is proper in this judicial District and the Buffalo Division pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) because Plaintiff resides in Erie County and a substantial part of the events 
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or omissions giving rise to the claims occurred here, including her purchase and use of one the 

Products, and her awareness the representations were misleading. 

PLAINTIFF 

9. Plaintiff is a citizen of New York and currently resides in West Seneca, New 

York. Between July and August of 2020, Plaintiff Ward purchased a bed sheet Product from 

Amazon.com. When purchasing the Product, Plaintiff relied on advertising of the Product as “1500 

Thread Count” in the Product name and believed the Product therefore had a thread count of 1500. 

Had Plaintiff known that the Product did not have a thread count of 1500, she would not have 

purchased the sheets or would have paid significantly less for them. As such, Plaintiff has been 

injured as a direct result of Defendants’ conduct.  

DEFENDANTS 

10. Defendant Bespolitan Inc. is a New Jersey corporation with its principal place 

of business in New Jersey. Defendant Bespolitan Inc., through its agents, is responsible for the 

manufacturing, marketing, advertising, packaging, distribution and sale of the Products in the 

U.S., including in this District.  

11. Defendant Elegant Comfort Inc. is a New Jersey corporation with its principal 

place of business in New Jersey. Defendant Elegant Comfort Inc., through its agents, is 

responsible for the manufacturing, marketing, advertising, packaging, distribution and sale of 

the Products in the U.S., including in this District.  

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

12. Elegant Comfort is one of the leading e-commerce bedding sheet brands.  

13. The Products at issue are all Elegant Comfort brand bed sheet and pillow sets 

sold on e-commerce platforms with a “1500 Thread Count” representation in the product name, 
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including, but not limited, to the: (1) Elegant Comfort Luxury Soft 1500 Thread Count 

Egyptian 4-Piece Premium Hotel Quality Wrinkle Resistant Coziest Bedding Set2; (2) Elegant 

Comfort Luxurious 1500 Thread Count Egyptian Quality Three Line Embroidered Softest 

Premium Hotel Quality 4-Piece Bed Sheet Set3; (3) Elegant Comfort Luxury Soft Bed Sheets 

Quatrefoil Pattern 1500 Thread Count Percale Egyptian Quality Softness Wrinkle and Fade 

Resistant (6-Piece) Bedding Set4; and (4) Elegant Comfort Luxury Ultra-Soft 2-Piece 

Pillowcase Set 1500 Thread Count Egyptian Quality Microfiber Double Brushed-Wrinkle 

Resistant.5 

14. Unfortunately for consumers, Defendants resort to false and misleading 

advertising to boost sales of the Products and gain a competitive edge in the market, all at the 

expense of unsuspecting consumers.  

 
2 https://www.amazon.com/Elegant-Comfort-Egyptian-Resistant-

Turquoise/dp/B07M91SSCZ/ref=sr_1_1?crid=2TOPZ2R7HACJG&keywords=elegant+comfort&qid=1673895

500&sprefix=elegant+comfor%2Caps%2C147&sr=8-1  
3 https://www.amazon.com/Elegant-Comfort-Luxurious-Embroidered-

Resistant/dp/B07KPB9MM3/ref=sr_1_2?crid=2TOPZ2R7HACJG&keywords=elegant+comfort&qid=1673895

500&sprefix=elegant+comfor%2Caps%2C147&sr=8-2  
4 https://www.amazon.com/Elegant-Comfort-Quatrefoil-Egyptian-

Resistant/dp/B0874DKL7V/ref=sxin_15_pa_sp_search_thematic_sspa?content-id=amzn1.sym.14a246c3-7a62-

40bf-bdd0-5ac67c2a1913%3Aamzn1.sym.14a246c3-7a62-40bf-bdd0-

5ac67c2a1913&crid=2TOPZ2R7HACJG&cv_ct_cx=elegant+comfort&keywords=elegant+comfort&pd_rd_i=

B0874DKL7V&pd_rd_r=879f0765-af61-41b5-8ec7-

60968f195177&pd_rd_w=mHyIk&pd_rd_wg=PrWwX&pf_rd_p=14a246c3-7a62-40bf-bdd0-

5ac67c2a1913&pf_rd_r=E7NZM3XQVVZ8PQJP84E9&qid=1673895500&sprefix=elegant+comfor%2Caps%

2C147&sr=1-3-a73d1c8c-2fd2-4f19-aa41-2df022bcb241-

spons&psc=1&spLa=ZW5jcnlwdGVkUXVhbGlmaWVyPUE2TklHM1g1UVg0VkYmZW5jcnlwdGVkSWQ9

QTA0ODQyNzUzNVlUTlJJMVpOWjZGJmVuY3J5cHRlZEFkSWQ9QTAyMzA3MjczVjZKRzFVT0dRRFN

CJndpZGdldE5hbWU9c3Bfc2VhcmNoX3RoZW1hdGljJmFjdGlvbj1jbGlja1JlZGlyZWN0JmRvTm90TG9nQ2

xpY2s9dHJ1ZQ==  
5 https://www.amazon.com/Elegant-Comfort-Ultra-Soft-Brushed-100-Hypoallergenic-

Wrinkle/dp/B07KQ2GB57/ref=sr_1_5?crid=2TOPZ2R7HACJG&keywords=elegant+comfort&qid=167389550

0&sprefix=elegant+comfor%2Caps%2C147&sr=8-5  
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https://www.amazon.com/Elegant-Comfort-Quatrefoil-Egyptian-Resistant/dp/B0874DKL7V/ref=sxin_15_pa_sp_search_thematic_sspa?content-id=amzn1.sym.14a246c3-7a62-40bf-bdd0-5ac67c2a1913%3Aamzn1.sym.14a246c3-7a62-40bf-bdd0-5ac67c2a1913&crid=2TOPZ2R7HACJG&cv_ct_cx=elegant+comfort&keywords=elegant+comfort&pd_rd_i=B0874DKL7V&pd_rd_r=879f0765-af61-41b5-8ec7-60968f195177&pd_rd_w=mHyIk&pd_rd_wg=PrWwX&pf_rd_p=14a246c3-7a62-40bf-bdd0-5ac67c2a1913&pf_rd_r=E7NZM3XQVVZ8PQJP84E9&qid=1673895500&sprefix=elegant+comfor%2Caps%2C147&sr=1-3-a73d1c8c-2fd2-4f19-aa41-2df022bcb241-spons&psc=1&spLa=ZW5jcnlwdGVkUXVhbGlmaWVyPUE2TklHM1g1UVg0VkYmZW5jcnlwdGVkSWQ9QTA0ODQyNzUzNVlUTlJJMVpOWjZGJmVuY3J5cHRlZEFkSWQ9QTAyMzA3MjczVjZKRzFVT0dRRFNCJndpZGdldE5hbWU9c3Bfc2VhcmNoX3RoZW1hdGljJmFjdGlvbj1jbGlja1JlZGlyZWN0JmRvTm90TG9nQ2xpY2s9dHJ1ZQ==
https://www.amazon.com/Elegant-Comfort-Quatrefoil-Egyptian-Resistant/dp/B0874DKL7V/ref=sxin_15_pa_sp_search_thematic_sspa?content-id=amzn1.sym.14a246c3-7a62-40bf-bdd0-5ac67c2a1913%3Aamzn1.sym.14a246c3-7a62-40bf-bdd0-5ac67c2a1913&crid=2TOPZ2R7HACJG&cv_ct_cx=elegant+comfort&keywords=elegant+comfort&pd_rd_i=B0874DKL7V&pd_rd_r=879f0765-af61-41b5-8ec7-60968f195177&pd_rd_w=mHyIk&pd_rd_wg=PrWwX&pf_rd_p=14a246c3-7a62-40bf-bdd0-5ac67c2a1913&pf_rd_r=E7NZM3XQVVZ8PQJP84E9&qid=1673895500&sprefix=elegant+comfor%2Caps%2C147&sr=1-3-a73d1c8c-2fd2-4f19-aa41-2df022bcb241-spons&psc=1&spLa=ZW5jcnlwdGVkUXVhbGlmaWVyPUE2TklHM1g1UVg0VkYmZW5jcnlwdGVkSWQ9QTA0ODQyNzUzNVlUTlJJMVpOWjZGJmVuY3J5cHRlZEFkSWQ9QTAyMzA3MjczVjZKRzFVT0dRRFNCJndpZGdldE5hbWU9c3Bfc2VhcmNoX3RoZW1hdGljJmFjdGlvbj1jbGlja1JlZGlyZWN0JmRvTm90TG9nQ2xpY2s9dHJ1ZQ==
https://www.amazon.com/Elegant-Comfort-Ultra-Soft-Brushed-100-Hypoallergenic-Wrinkle/dp/B07KQ2GB57/ref=sr_1_5?crid=2TOPZ2R7HACJG&keywords=elegant+comfort&qid=1673895500&sprefix=elegant+comfor%2Caps%2C147&sr=8-5
https://www.amazon.com/Elegant-Comfort-Ultra-Soft-Brushed-100-Hypoallergenic-Wrinkle/dp/B07KQ2GB57/ref=sr_1_5?crid=2TOPZ2R7HACJG&keywords=elegant+comfort&qid=1673895500&sprefix=elegant+comfor%2Caps%2C147&sr=8-5
https://www.amazon.com/Elegant-Comfort-Ultra-Soft-Brushed-100-Hypoallergenic-Wrinkle/dp/B07KQ2GB57/ref=sr_1_5?crid=2TOPZ2R7HACJG&keywords=elegant+comfort&qid=1673895500&sprefix=elegant+comfor%2Caps%2C147&sr=8-5
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15. Specifically, Defendants prominently advertise the Products as having a thread 

count of 1500, when they do not. For example, the product titles on Amazon.com 

unequivocally represent that the Products have a “1500 Thread Count.” See below examples. 
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16. The remainder of the Amazon pages, including the product information 

columns, reinforce this message: 
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17. Unbeknownst to consumers, the Products do not contain a thread count of 1500. 

Indeed, ASTM-compliant thread count testing has revealed that the sheets contained in the 
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Elegant Comfort Luxury Soft 1500 Thread Count Egyptian 4-Piece Premium Hotel Quality 

Wrinkle Resistant Coziest Bedding Set, which contain the same microfiber fabric as the sheets 

in the other Products, have a thread count of approximately 180.  

18. As such, the advertising of the Products as having a “1500 Thread Count” is 

false and deceptive.  

19. Plaintiff and other consumers purchased the Products, relying on the advertising 

of the Products as “1500 Thread Count,” and reasonably believing that the Products have a 

thread count of 1500.  

20. Plaintiff is not the only consumer to have been misled. Indeed, numerous 

consumers have taken to the Products’ Amazon.com pages to express how they were misled 

by the represented thread count. Below is a select sample of some complaints.  

 

 

 

 

Case 1:23-cv-00069   Document 1   Filed 01/24/23   Page 9 of 21



 

10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Case 1:23-cv-00069   Document 1   Filed 01/24/23   Page 10 of 21



 

11 

 

 

 

 

 

21. The perception that the Products have a thread count of 1500 is material to 

consumers’ purchasing decisions.  Indeed, consumers pay a premium for sheets based on 

purportedly higher thread counts and the belief that a higher thread count means higher quality. 
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See e.g., https://www.mattressadvisor.com/thread-count-really-matter-sheets/ (“higher thread 

counts mean higher prices, which consumers happily pay believing they are buying top quality 

sheets with thread counts of 750, 800, 1000, or even higher.”) 

22. As the entities responsible for the development, manufacturing, advertising, 

distribution and sale of the Products, Defendants knew or should have known that the Products 

are falsely and deceptively advertised.  Moreover, Defendants knew or should have known that 

Plaintiff and other consumers, in purchasing the Products, would rely on Defendants’ 

advertising of the Products as having a “1500 Thread Count” and be deceived. This is 

evidenced in part by the numerous customer complaints about the advertising on Amazon.com. 

Moreover, as one of the industry leaders in bed sheets, Defendants knew or reasonably should 

have known that their advertising is likely to deceive consumers in light of prior thread count 

litigation in the bed sheet industry. See, e.g., Rushing v. Williams-Sonoma, Inc., No. 16-CV-

01421-WHO, 2016 WL 4269787, at *7 (N.D. Cal. Aug. 15, 2016) (holding that plaintiff has 

adequately pleaded that reasonable consumers would be misled by defendants’ failure to 

disclose an accurate thread count); Hawes v. Macy's Stores W., Inc., No. 1:17-CV-754, 2022 

WL 194407, at *20 (S.D. Ohio Jan. 22, 2022) (granting class certification in class action 

alleging inflated thread count claims).      

23. As outlined above, consumers are willing to pay more for the Products based 

on the belief that they have a thread count of 1500. Plaintiff and other consumers would have 

paid significantly less for the Products, or would not have purchased them at all, had they 

known that the truth about it. Thus, through the use of misleading representations, Defendants 

command a price that Plaintiff and the Classes would not have paid had they been fully 

informed. 
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24. Therefore, Plaintiff and other consumers purchasing the Products have suffered 

injury in fact and lost money as a result of Defendants’ false and deceptive practices, as 

described herein. 

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

25. Plaintiff brings this class action pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P 23 and all other 

applicable laws and rules, individually, and on behalf of all members of the following Classes:  

Nationwide Class 

All residents of the U.S. who purchased the Products within the applicable statute of 

limitation (“Nationwide Class”). 

 

New York Class 

All residents of New York who purchased the Products within the applicable statute 

of limitation (“New York Class”) (together with the Nationwide Class, the California 

Class, and the California Consumer Subclass, the “Classes”). 

 

26. Excluded from the Classes are the following individuals and/or entities: 

Defendants and its parents, subsidiaries, affiliates, officers and directors, current or former 

employees, and any entity in which Defendants have a controlling interest; all individuals who 

make a timely election to be excluded from this proceeding using the correct protocol for 

opting out; and all judges assigned to hear any aspect of this litigation, as well as their 

immediate family members.   

27. Plaintiff reserves the right to modify or amend the definition of the proposed 

Classes and/or add subclasses before the Court determines whether class certification is 

appropriate.  

28. Numerosity: Members of each Class are so numerous and geographically 

dispersed that individual joinder of all Class members is impracticable. The precise number of 
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Class members is unknown to Plaintiff but is likely to be ascertained by the Defendants’ 

records. At a minimum, there likely are at least thousands of Class members. 

29. Commonality: There are questions of law and fact common to the proposed 

class(es). Common questions of law and fact include, without limitations: 

a. whether Defendants’ course of conduct alleged herein violates the statutes 

and other laws that are pled in this Complaint; 

b. whether reasonable consumers would rely upon the “1500 Thread Count” 

representation and reasonably believe the Products are comprised of that 

thread count; 

c. whether Defendants knew or reasonably should have known that the “1500 

Thread Count” name was false or misleading; 

d. whether Defendants were unjustly enriched by retaining monies from the 

sale of the Products; 

e. whether certification of each Class is appropriate under Rule 23; 

f. whether Plaintiff and the members of each Class are entitled to declaratory, 

equitable, and/or other relief, and the scope of such relief; and 

g. the amount and nature of the relief to be awarded to the Plaintiff and the 

Classes.   

30. Typicality: Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the other Class members because 

Plaintiff, as well as Class members, purchased the Products. Plaintiff and members of the 

Classes relied on the “1500 Thread Count” representation about the Products prior to 

purchasing them. Plaintiff and the members of each Class paid for Defendants’ Products and 
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would not have purchased them (or would have paid substantially less for them) had they 

known that the “1500 Thread Count” representation was false and deceptive. 

31. Adequacy: Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the 

proposed Classes as her interests do not conflict with the interests of the members of the 

proposed Classes she seeks to represent, and she has retained counsel competent and 

experienced in class action litigation. Thus, the interests of the members of the Classes will be 

fairly and adequately protected by Plaintiff and her counsel. 

32. Predominance: Pursuant to Rule 23(b)(3), the common issues of law and fact 

identified in this Complaint predominate over any other questions affecting only individual 

members of the Classes. Class issues fully predominate over any individual issue because no 

inquiry into individual conduct is necessary; all that is required is a narrow focus on 

Defendants’ misconduct detailed at length in this Complaint. 

33. Superiority: A class action is superior to all other available methods for the 

fair and efficient adjudication of this litigation because individual litigation of each claim is 

impractical. It would be unduly burdensome to have individual litigation of thousands of 

individual claims in separate lawsuits, every one of which would present the issues presented 

in the Complaint/lawsuit. Further, because of the damages suffered by any individual Class 

member may be relatively modest in relation to the cost of litigation, the expense and burden 

of individual litigation make it difficult, if not impossible. Furthermore, many of the Class 

members may be unaware that claims exist against the Defendants. 
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FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
Violation of New York’s General Business Law § 349 

(For the New York Class) 

34. Plaintiff repeats the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-33 above as if fully 

set forth herein. 

35. Plaintiff brings this claim individually and on behalf of the members of the 

proposed New York Class against Defendants. 

36. New York General Business Law (“GBL”) § 349 prohibits “[d]eceptive acts or 

practices in the conduct of any business, trade, or commerce or in the furnishing of any service 

in this state.” 

37. The conduct of Defendants alleged herein constitutes “unlawful” deceptive acts 

and practices in violation of GBL § 349, and as such, Plaintiff and the New York Class 

members seek monetary damages.  

38. Defendants misleadingly, inaccurately, and deceptively advertised and 

marketed its Products as “1500 Thread Count” to consumers. 

39. Defendants’ improper consumer-oriented conduct—including naming and 

advertising the Products as “1500 Thread Count”— is misleading in a material way in that it, 

inter alia, induced Plaintiff and the New York Class members to purchase and pay a premium 

for the Products when they otherwise would not have paid the same price had they known the 

truth. Defendants made these untrue and/or misleading statements and representations 

willfully, wantonly, and with reckless disregard for the truth. 

40. Plaintiff and the New York Class members have been injured inasmuch as they 

paid a premium for the Products that were substantially inferior to the stated “1500 Thread 
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Count,” contrary to the representation made about it. Accordingly, Plaintiff and the New York 

Class members received less than what they bargained and/or paid for. 

41. Defendants’ deceptive and misleading practices constitute a deceptive act and 

practice in the conduct of business in violation of New York General Business Law §349(a) 

and Plaintiff and the New York Class members have been damaged thereby. 

42. As a result of Defendants’ “unlawful” deceptive acts and practices, Plaintiff and 

the New York Class are entitled to monetary, compensatory, statutory, treble and punitive 

damages, restitution and disgorgement of all moneys obtained by means of Defendants’ 

unlawful conduct, interest, and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
Violation of New York’s General Business Law § 350 

(For the New York Class) 

43. Plaintiff repeats the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-33 above as if fully 

set forth herein. 

44. Plaintiff brings this claim individually and on behalf of the members of the 

proposed New York Class against Defendants. 

45. GBL § 350-a(1) provides, in part, as follows: 

The term “false advertising” means advertising, including 

labeling, of a commodity, or of the kind, character, terms or 

conditions of any employment opportunity if such advertising is 

misleading in a material respect.  In determining whether any 

advertising is misleading, there shall be taken into account 

(among other things) not only representations made by 

statement, word, design, device, sound or any combination 

thereof, but also the extent to which the advertising fails to 

reveal facts material in the light of such representations with 

respect to the commodity or employment to which the 

advertising relates under the conditions prescribed in said 

advertisement, or under such conditions as are customary or 

usual. … 
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46. Defendants’ naming and advertising of the Products as “1500 Thread Count” is 

materially misleading inasmuch as they misrepresent the Products’ thread count and thus 

quality.  

47. Plaintiff and the New York Class members have been injured inasmuch as they 

relied upon the naming and advertising of the Products and paid a premium for a product in 

that they would not have paid the same price for the Products had they known the truth about 

it. Accordingly, Plaintiff and the New York Class members received less than what they 

bargained and/or paid for. 

48. Defendants’ naming and advertising of the Products induced Plaintiff and the 

New York Class members to buy Defendants’ Products. Thus, Defendants made a material 

misrepresentation about the Products. 

49. Defendants made the misleading “1500 Thread Count” representations 

willfully, wantonly, and with reckless disregard for the truth. 

50. Defendants’ material misrepresentations were substantially uniform in content, 

presentation, and impact upon consumers at large. Moreover, all consumers purchasing the 

Products were exposed to Defendants’ material misrepresentation. 

51. As a result of Defendants’ “unlawful” deceptive acts and practices, Plaintiff and 

the New York Class are entitled to monetary, compensatory, statutory, treble and punitive 

damages, restitution and disgorgement of all moneys obtained by means of Defendants’ 

unlawful conduct, interest, and attorneys’ fees and costs.  

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

Quasi Contract/Unjust Enrichment/Restitution 

(for the Nationwide Class; alternatively, for the New York Class) 
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52. Plaintiff repeats the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-33 above as if fully 

set forth herein. 

53. Plaintiff brings this claim individually and on behalf of the members of the 

proposed Nationwide Class against Defendants. Alternatively, Plaintiff brings this claim 

individually and on behalf of the members of the proposed New York Class against 

Defendants. 

54. As alleged herein, Defendants have intentionally and recklessly made 

misleading representations to Plaintiff and members of the Classes to induce them to purchase 

the Products. Plaintiff and members of the Classes have reasonably relied on the misleading 

representations and have not received all of the benefits promised by Defendants through the 

Products’ representations. Plaintiff and members of the proposed Classes have therefore been 

induced by Defendants’ misleading and deceptive representations about the Products, and paid 

more money to Defendants for the Products than they otherwise would and/or should have 

paid.   

55. Plaintiff and members of the proposed Classes have conferred a benefit upon 

Defendants as Defendants have retained monies paid to them by Plaintiff and members of the 

proposed Classes. 

56. The monies received were obtained under circumstances that were at the 

expense of Plaintiff and members of the proposed Classes—i.e., Plaintiff and members of the 

proposed Classes did not receive the full value of the benefit conferred upon Defendants. 

Therefore, it is inequitable and unjust for Defendants to retain the profit, benefit, or 

compensation conferred upon them.   
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57. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unjust enrichment, Plaintiff and 

members of the proposed Classes are entitled to restitution, disgorgement, and/or the 

imposition of a constructive trust upon all profits, benefits, and other compensation obtained 

by Defendants from its deceptive, misleading, and unlawful conduct as alleged herein. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of the proposed Classes, 

respectfully prays for following relief:  

A. Certification of this case as a class action on behalf of the proposed Classes 

defined above, appointment of Plaintiff as Class representative, and appointment of her counsel 

as Class Counsel;  

B. A declaration that Defendants’ actions, as described herein, violate the claims 

described herein;  

D. An award to Plaintiff and the proposed Classes of restitution and/or other 

equitable relief, including, without limitation, restitutionary disgorgement of all profits and 

unjust enrichment that Defendants obtained from Plaintiff and the proposed Classes as a result 

of its unlawful, unfair and fraudulent business practices described herein; 

E. An award of all economic, monetary, actual, consequential, and compensatory 

damages caused by Defendants’ conduct; 

F. An award of nominal, punitive, and statutory damages;  

H. An award to Plaintiff and her counsel of reasonable expenses and attorneys’ 

fees;  

I. An award to Plaintiff and her proposed Classes of pre and post-judgment 

interest, to the extent allowable; and 
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J. For such further relief that the Court may deem just and proper. 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiff, on behalf of herself and the proposed Classes, hereby demands a jury trial 

with respect to all issues triable of right by jury.  

 

 

 

 

Dated: January 24, 2023   

 Respectfully submitted,   

 

/s/ Spencer Sheehan 

Sheehan & Associates, P.C. 

60 Cuttermill Rd Ste 412 

Great Neck NY 11021 

(516) 268-7080 

spencer@spencersheehan.com 

 Custodio & Dubey, LLP 

Robert Abiri 

445 S Figueroa St Ste 2520 

Los Angeles CA 90071 

(213) 593-9095 

abiri@cd-lawyers.com 

 

 Treehouse Law, LLP 

Benjamin Heikali (Pro Hac Vice Forthcoming)  

10250 Constellation Blvd Ste 100  

Los Angeles CA 90067 

(310) 751-5948 

bheikali@treehouselaw.com 

 

Attorneys for Plaintiff and the Putative Class 
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   560 Civil Detainee - 

             Conditions of    

             Confinement 

FEDERAL TAX S UITS 

   870 Taxes (U.S. Plaintiff 

              or Defendant) 

   871 IRS—Third Party 

              26 USC 7609 IMMIGRATION 

 462 Naturalization Application  

 465 Other Immigration         

            Actions 

      

      

            

            

            
            

 V.  ORIGIN (Place an “X” in One Box Only)      

    1    Original   2   Removed from           3      Remanded from           4  Reinstated or       5  Transferred from     6   Multidistrict      8   Multidistrict  
            Proceeding          State Court                    Appellate Court                 Reopened              Another District 

               (specify) 

            Litigation -               Litigation -  

                                Transfer               Direct File     

       Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you are filing (Do not cite jurisdictional statutes unless diversity): 

  VI.  CAUSE OF ACTION 
28 U.S.C. § 1332  

 Brief description of cause: 

         False advertising  

  VII.  REQUESTED IN 
           COMPLAINT: 

       СHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS ACTION  DEMAND $     CHECK YES only if demanded in complaint: 

          UNDER RULE 23, F.R.Cv.P.    JURY DEMAND:           Yes        No 

 VIII. RELATED CASE(S) 

          IF ANY 
 

                          
  (See instructions):                     

    JUDGE  DOCKET NUMBER   
 

   DATE         SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY OF RECORD             

 January 24, 2023  /s/Spencer Sheehan  
  FOR OFFICE USE ONLY                          

       RECEIPT #   AMOUNT        APPLYING IFP             JUDGE         MAG. JUDGE  
 

 

 

Case 1:23-cv-00069   Document 1-1   Filed 01/24/23   Page 1 of 1



 

  

                              

                              
  AO 440 (Rev. 06/12)  Summons in a Civil Action                      
                                

  

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
  

  

               for the               

         
    Western District of New York 

         

                  
                              

                                

 Danielle Ward, on behalf of herself and all others 

similarly situated, 

 ) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

               
                 

                 

                 
                 

                 

 
                                              

                                             Plaintiff(s)                 

       
     v. 

       
   Civil Action No. 1:23-cv-00069 

 

               
  

Bespolitan Inc. and Elegant Comfort Inc., 

                

                 

                 
                 

                 

                 

                                            Defendant(s)                 
                                

                              

          SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION           

                              

    To: (Defendant’s name and address) 
 

Bespolitan Inc. 
 

  
         

c/o Jimmy Erol 
 

          

         72 Eileen Dr  

         Cedar Grove NJ 07009  

           
  

A lawsuit has been filed against you. 
                   

                    
                              

                

             Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you_  

are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ._    

P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of  

the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,  

 
  

  

  
  

  

 whose name and address are: Sheehan & Associates, P.C., 60 Cuttermill Rd Ste 412 Great Neck NY 11021 

(516) 268-7080 

 

         
         

        

 

 

         
         

         

         
             If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint._ 

You also must file your answer or motion with the court. 

 

  

  
                              

                              

                 
 CLERK OF COURT 

       

                        

                
 

 
             

                              
    

    Date:  
        

 
 

         

                                         Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk  
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   AO 440 (Rev. 06/12)  Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)                     
                                

 Civil Action No. 1:23-cv-00069                  
                  

                                

            
      PROOF OF SERVICE 

            
                        

     
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l)) 

     

          
                                

    
This summons for  (name of individual and title, if any)  

 

     

 
was received by me on (date) 

 
 . 

                
                  

                                 
    

 I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)  
 

     

    
  on (date)   ; or 

    

        
                                

    
 I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)  

 

     

    
 , a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there, 

   

       

    
on (date)  , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or 

      

          
                                

    
 I served the summons on (name of individual)   , who is 

 
     

    
 designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)  

 

     

    
  on (date)   ; or 

    
        
                                  

    
 I returned the summons unexecuted because  ; or 

 

     
                                  
                                  

    
 Other (specify):   

     
         

         

         

         

   
   My fees are $  for travel and $  for services, for a total of $   . 

 
    

                                
                                

    
I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true. 

              

                  
                                

                                
                                

 
Date: 

 
 

       
 

  

           

                Server’s signature   

                                   

               
 

  
                 

               Printed name and title   
                                

                  
                 

                 

                 
                 

               Server’s address   

                                
 

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc: 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
  

  

               for the               

         
    Western District of New York 

         

                  
                              

                                

 Danielle Ward, on behalf of herself and all others 

similarly situated, 

 ) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

               
                 

                 

                 
                 

                 

 
                                              

                                             Plaintiff(s)                 

       
     v. 

       
   Civil Action No. 1:23-cv-00069 

 

               
  

Bespolitan Inc. and Elegant Comfort Inc., 

                

                 

                 
                 

                 

                 

                                            Defendant(s)                 
                                

                              

          SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION           

                              

    To: (Defendant’s name and address) 
 

Elegant Comfort Inc. 
 

  
         

c/o Erhan Erol 
 

          

         72 Eileen Dr  

         Cedar Grove NJ 07009  

           
  

A lawsuit has been filed against you. 
                   

                    
                              

                

             Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you_  

are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ._    

P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of  

the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,  

 
  

  

  
  

  

 whose name and address are: Sheehan & Associates, P.C., 60 Cuttermill Rd Ste 412 Great Neck NY 11021 

(516) 268-7080 

 

         
         

        

 

 

         
         

         

         
             If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint._ 

You also must file your answer or motion with the court. 

 

  

  
                              

                              

                 
 CLERK OF COURT 

       

                        

                
 

 
             

                              
    

    Date:  
        

 
 

         

                                         Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk  
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      PROOF OF SERVICE 

            
                        

     
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l)) 

     

          
                                

    
This summons for  (name of individual and title, if any)  

 

     

 
was received by me on (date) 

 
 . 

                
                  

                                 
    

 I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)  
 

     

    
  on (date)   ; or 

    

        
                                

    
 I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)  

 

     

    
 , a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there, 

   

       

    
on (date)  , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or 

      

          
                                

    
 I served the summons on (name of individual)   , who is 

 
     

    
 designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)  

 

     

    
  on (date)   ; or 

    
        
                                  

    
 I returned the summons unexecuted because  ; or 

 

     
                                  
                                  

    
 Other (specify):   

     
         

         

         

         

   
   My fees are $  for travel and $  for services, for a total of $   . 

 
    

                                
                                

    
I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true. 

              

                  
                                

                                
                                

 
Date: 

 
 

       
 

  

           

                Server’s signature   

                                   

               
 

  
                 

               Printed name and title   
                                

                  
                 

                 

                 
                 

               Server’s address   

                                
 

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc: 
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